1966

Henry Bawden, et al. v. Othello P. Pearce, et al. v. Doxey-Layton Co., et al. : Brief of Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought by 35-40, Inc., and six other owners of real property within the Hunter-Granger Planning District in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, against the Salt Lake County Building Inspector, Planning Commission and Commissioners, seeking an injunction restraining the defendants from issuing building permits or permitting construction of commercial buildings in violation of the terms and provisions of the applicable zoning ordinance and the R-2 classification thereof, governing the use of property owned by intervenors in said planning district at the location of approximately 2700 West and 3500 South, Salt Lake County, Utah.

DESIGNATION OF PARTIES

To avoid confusion in this brief, the seven plaintiff-appellants will be referred to as 35-40, Inc., et al., inasmuch as 35-40, Inc. is a major property owner. The defendant-respondents will be referred to as Building Inspector, et al., and intervenor-respondents will be referred to as Doxey-Layton Co., et al., inasmuch as Doxey-Layton Co. is the principal intervenor.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

At the hearing on the Motion of 35-40, Inc., et al. for a Temporary Restraining Order (R. 12-14), Doxey-Layton Co., et al. were permitted to intervene and the Court requested that legal argument be made before any testimony was received. (R. 128) During the legal argu

ment, Doxey-Layton Co., et al., moved the Court to dismiss the complaint of 35-40, Inc., et al., and at the conclusion of the argument, 35-40, Inc., et al. moved the Court for a summary judgment on their Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order. At the conclusion of the arguments of counsel and before any substantial evidence had been introduced and before 35-40, Inc., et al. were given any opportunity to be heard in regard to the issuance of a temporary injunction, the District Court granted the motion of Doxey-Layton Co., et al., to dismiss the complaint of 35-40, Inc., et al. and denied the motion of 35-40, Inc., et al., for summary issuance of a restraining order. (R. 97, 98) 35-40, Inc., et al., appeal from such judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

35-40, Inc., et al. seek reversal of the District Court's Order dismissing their Complaint and reversal of the Order denying their Motion for the summary issuance of a Temporary Restraining Order pursuant to their petition. 35-40, Inc., et al. further request that the Building Inspector, et al. be summarily restrained during the pendency of this action, from issuing permits to Doxey-Layton Co., et al. or allowing construction of buildings in violation of the terms of the applicable zoning ordinance and R-2 classification thereof governing the premises involved.

In the event this Court reverses the District Court Order, whereby the complaint was dismissed but should

be unwilling, on the record as it now stands, to reverse the Order of the District Court denying the motion of 35-40, Inc., et al. for the summary issuance of a Temporary Restraining Order, then in that event, 35-40, Inc., et al. seek to have the Court remand this matter to the District Court with instructions to proceed with a hearing on the motion of 35-40, Inc., et al. for a Temporary Restraining Order.

In any event, the District Court should be instructed to proceed to a trial on the complaint of 35-40, Inc., et al., whereby a permanent injunction is sought.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The issue involved in this appeal stems from an extended and involved zoning procedure and hearings and litigation in connection therewith; therefore, to see the issue in its proper perspective it becomes necessary in the following statement of facts to set forth at length the history and background of the case giving rise to the issue now before this Court.

Doxey-Layton Co., et al. own real property in the Hunter-Granger Planning District in Salt Lake County, Utah. (R-1, 153-154) For several years Salt Lake County has been conducting studies and holding hearings to enact a well-planned zoning ordinance for the Hunter-Granger Planning District, which would enable that area to have an orderly development and preserve the values of the

property therein. A Zoning Ordinance was finally enacted on or about February 12, 1965, which Ordinance zoned the property that is in dispute herein of Doxey-Layton Co., et al. for residential use, R-2 classification, which does not permit commercial buildings, regional shopping centers or any other commercial use. The Zoning Ordinance provided for a regional shopping center and zoned the property now owned by 35-40, Inc. for that use.

Because of the time involved in holding hearings, etc., Salt Lake County, on December 18, 1963, under the provisions of Title 17, Chapter 27, Section 19, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, promulgated zoning regulations of a temporary nature to continue in effect for a six-months period, to June 18, 1964. (R. 155-156) On March 28, 1964, while the temporary zoning regulations were in effect, Doxey-Layton Co., et al. filed an application for a building permit for the construction of commercial-type buildings in a shopping center arrangement. (R. 158) Said petition was denied on the grounds the temporary zoning regulation would not permit such construction. Thereafter, on May 2, 1964, which was still within the period of the temporary zoning regulations, Doxey-Layton Co., et al., acting as aforesaid, petitioned for another building permit to construct commercial-type buildings in connection with a regional shopping center. (R. 159) On May 23, 1964, still within the period of temporary zoning regulations, the Building Inspector again

denied this second application, on the ground that the temporary zoning regulations would not permit such. (R. 159) Thereafter, Doxey-Layton Co., et al., appealed from the decision of May 23, 1964, denying its application. On the appeal, the decision of May 23, 1964, was sustained. (R. 159) As a result of their loss on appeal, Doxey-Layton Co., et al. brought an action in the District Court of Salt Lake County, Civil No. 152766, seeking to require the Building Inspector to give them a building permit to construct commercial buildings.

The case was tried before the Honorable Ferdinand Erickson, sitting as one of the judges of the Third Judicial District Court. During the trial, Doxey-Layton Co., et al. contended that a second zoning ordinance of a temporary nature, enacted by the Salt Lake County Commission on June 19, 1964 (which was after intervenors' application for a building permit had been denied by the Commission but before the appeal of that decision had been finally decided) was improper and void. (R. 156) On February 24, 1965, the Honorable Ferdinand Erickson decided the case and ordered that an extraordinary writ be issued, requiring the Building Inspector of Salt Lake County to consider and process the application of Doxey-Layton Co., et al., without reference to the use of the land. (R. 162-165) The writ was issued the following day, February 25, 1965. (R. 166-168)

Building Inspector, et al. appealed to the Supreme Court from said order and while the appeal was pending, Doxey-Layton Co., et al. obtained a building permit, No. E3189, for the construction of "footings and foundations only for Building C." (Exhibit P-4) Following the issuance of Permit No. E3189, Doxey-Layton Co., et al., on J-19 1965, ^{filed with the Supreme Court} ~~(Exhibit P-1) On the second day of August,~~ State of Utah a Motion to Dismiss Appeal for Mootness, contending that "said permit is the building permit referred to and contemplated by the extraordinary writ in the nature of mandamus issued herein on February 25, 1965." (Exhibit P-1) On the second day of August, 1965, the Supreme Court heard the motion and entered the following minute entry:

"Upon motion of plaintiff, that the appeal be dismissed, being represented by counsel for both parties that the defendants have complied with the writ of mandate and the matter is moot, and upon stipulation of counsel that the appeal is to be dismissed, it is hereby dismissed." (Exhibit P-2)

Notwithstanding the fact that Doxey-Layton Co., et al. stipulated that the permit issued was the one contemplated by the writ of mandamus, and that the writ had been complied with, Doxey-Layton Co., et al. continues to apply and threatens to continue to apply for additional building permits for the construction of commercial-type buildings on its property in the area zoned R-2 classification, which does not permit commercial buildings. (R. 122)

When 35-40, Inc., et al. learned of the intentions of Doxey-Layton Co., et al., after the dismissal of the appeal, to obtain additional building permits, 35-40, Inc., et al. brought this action in the District Court as property owners in the Hunter-Granger Planning District, seeking the Court to restrain Building Inspector, et al. from issuing any more building permits contrary to the zoning ordinance.

Included in the complaint of 35-40, Inc., et al., was a petition for a Temporary Restraining Order to restrain Building Inspector, et al. from issuing any permits during the pendency of this action. (R. 12-14)

Near the commencement of the hearing, Aldon J. Anderson, one of the judges of the Third Judicial District Court, requested the parties to present legal arguments before the presentation of any testimony. (R. 128) However, prior to the legal arguments, several documents had been introduced and received in evidence. (Exhibits 1, 2, and 4) In the presentation of its legal argument, Doxey-Layton Co., et al. made a motion to dismiss 35-40, Inc., et al.'s complaint, and following the argument, 35-40, Inc., et al, moved the Court for a summary judgment on its motion for a temporary restraining order. Judge Anderson, after hearing legal argument and without permitting any testimony, granted the motion of Doxey-Layton Co., et al. to dismiss the complaint of 35-40, Inc., et al. and denied the motion of 35-40, Inc., et al. for summary judgment. 35-40, Inc., et al. now appeal from Judge Anderson's order.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

35-40, INC., ET AL., AS OWNERS OF REAL PROPERTY WITHIN THE DISTRICT, ARE ENTITLED BY STATUTE TO BRING THIS ACTION TO ENJOIN BUILDING INSPECTOR, ET AL. FROM ISSUING BUILDING PERMITS CONTRARY TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE.

Title 17, Chapter 27, Section 23, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides in part as follows:

" . . . In case any building or structure is or is proposed to be erected, constructed, reconstructed, altered, maintained or used, or any land is or is proposed to be used in violation of this act or of any regulation or provision of any resolution, or amendment thereof, enacted or adopted by any board of county commissioners under the authority granted by this act, such board, the district attorney or the county, *or any owner of real estate within the district in which such building, structure or land is situated*, may, in addition to other remedies, provided by law, institute injunction, mandamus, abatement or any other appropriate action or actions, proceeding or proceedings, to prevent, enjoin, abate, or remove such unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, maintenance or use." (emphasis added)

The above-quoted statute is explicit in providing that owners of real estate within the district may bring an action to enjoin and even abate or remove any building or structure and may enjoin any building that is pro-

posed, when such are in violation of the applicable zoning ordinances. As owners of real property, 35-40, Inc., et al. are specifically granted a right to bring an action not only to enjoin but if necessary abate and remove any unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, maintenance, or use of property in the Planning District.

Neither the temporary zoning regulations in effect at the time Doxey-Layton Co., et al. made application for a building permit, nor the final zoning ordinance enacted February 12, 1965, which is now applicable, permit the construction of commercial buildings or shopping center arrangement on the property of Doxey-Layton Co., et al. For Building Inspector, et al. to issue a permit for the construction of commercial buildings or a shopping center would be in violation of the zoning ordinances and would be the very act which Title 17 of the Utah Code permits 35-40, Inc., et al. as owners of real property to enjoin.

Doxey-Layton Co., et al. contend that the writ of mandate signed by Judge Erickson on February 24, 1965 supersedes the zoning ordinance and requires Building Inspector, et al. to consider and process its application without consideration of land and building usage. (R-161) However, such contention is now without merit by reason of the subsequent order of the Supreme Court of the State of Utah, finding:

"That defendants (Building Inspector, et al.) have complied with the writ of mandate and the matter is moot." (Exhibit P-2)

As held in *Christie vs. Morris*, 119 Mont. 383, 176 P. 2d 660, 663:

"It is a well-established rule . . . that the records of a court of justice, including the record of a judgment, import absolute verity; and no one, whether or not a party to the proceeding in which they were made, may in a collateral proceeding impeach them by adducing evidence in denial of the facts of which they purport to be a memorial."

The Supreme Court of Montana went on in that case to comment in regard to the party that was trying to take an inconsistent position to a prior decree:

" . . . he cannot complain that the Court did what he asked it to do. . . ."

Doxey-Layton Co., et al. are likewise bound by the judicial order of the Utah Supreme Court which they procured, which found that the writ of mandate had been complied with by the issuance of the single building permit No. E3189, and they cannot now complain that the Court found just what they asked the Court to find. With the writ of mandate satisfied, the zoning ordinances in regard to the Hunter-Granger Planning District remain in full force and effect without any exceptions thereto, and 35-40, Inc., et al. as property owners are entitled to bring this action to enjoin the construction of commercial

buildings or the use of the property in the Planning District in violation of such zoning ordinances beyond that contemplated by the single Permit No. 3189.

POINT NO. II

DOXEY-LAYTON CO., ET AL. BY THEIR STIPULATION THAT THE WRIT OF MANDATE HAD BEEN COMPLIED WITH, WHICH WAS FINALIZED IN THE ORDER OF THE SUPREME COURT OF UTAH, ARE ESTOPPED FROM NOW TAKING AN INCONSISTENT POSITION.

The essential issue now before the Court in this appeal is the consequences that flow from the dismissal of the appeal of Case No. 152766 which Doxey-Layton Co., et al. procured. There can be no doubt what those consequences are when the said dismissal and the basis for the same are examined.

In Exhibit P-1, which is a copy of Intervenor's Motion to Dismiss Appeal for Mootness, together with affidavit and memorandum in support of said motion in said Civil Case 152766, Graham W. Doxey of Doxey-Layton Co., et al., referring to Permit No. E3189 for footings and foundations only for Building C, stated under oath:

“ . . . that said permit is the building permit referred to and contemplated by the extraordinary writ in the nature of mandamus issued herein on February 25, 1965.”

In the Memorandum of Authorities, Doxey-Layton Co. et al. stated on Page 2 in part:

"By issuing the permit, defendant-appellants (Building Inspector, et al.) eliminated any controversy . . ."

and on Pages 5 and 6 of the Memorandum Doxey-Layton Co., et al. further stated:

"Following issuance of the writ, defendant-appellants (Building Inspector, et al.) took no action of any kind to stay its effective force, and obedience was therefore required. The defendant-appellants did obey and issued ~~the~~ building permit authorizing the construction of the shopping center . . . The writ has been obeyed, the judgment carried out to this point . . . Whatever the decision of this court may be as to the judgment, it cannot restore the status quo of the parties, the judgment has been complied with, and the appeal proceedings are therefore moot." (Exhibit P-1)

The above representations by Doxey-Layton Co., et al. elicited a determination by the Supreme Court as follows:

"Upon motion of plaintiffs that the appeal be dismissed, and it being represented by counsel for both parties that defendants have complied with the writ of mandate and the matter is moot, and upon stipulation of counsel that the appeal be dismissed, it is hereby dismissed." (Exhibit P-2)

At the hearing of the instant case in the District Court, Doxey-Layton Co., et al. took an entirely inconsistent position with the above allegations, culminating in the above-stated order of the Supreme Court. During the hearing, Mr. McMurray for 35-40, Inc., et al. asked the following question to counsel for Doxey-Layton Co., et al. and received the following answer:

“ ‘Mr. Worsley (who represents Doxey-Layton Co., et al.), do you on behalf of your clients seek any other permit similar to 3189, which you seek the issuance of, any further receipt and permits from the Salt Lake County Planning, Zoning and Building Department, other than 3189?’ ”

“Mr. Worsley: ‘Your Honor, making it crystal clear, we will seek quite a substantial number of supplemental permits. . . .’ ” (R-122)

The principle of estoppel has long been established in the law and prohibits such inconsistent positions as Doxey-Layton Co., et al. are attempting to take. The broad principle is stated in 31 C.J.S. 548, under the section entitled “Estoppel”:

“The doctrine of equitable estoppel precludes a person from maintaining a position or attitude inconsistent with another position or attitude which is sought to be maintained at the same time or which was asserted at a previous time.”

The Utah Supreme Court has stated the principle in the case of *Tanner v. Provo Reservoir Company*, 76 Utah 335, 289 P. 151, 154 as follows:

“ . . . The doctrine of estoppel requires of a party consistency of conduct, when inconsistency would work substantial injury to the other party.”

The Utah Supreme Court went on to say in the same case that fraud or intent to deceive did not have to be found before estoppel could be applied. The Court stated:

"This Court in *Hilton v. Sloan*, 37 Utah 359, 108 P. 689, 694, became committed to the doctrine that: 'It is not necessary that in all cases and under all circumstances there must be shown an actual intention to deceive in order (to) estop a person'."

The Utah Supreme Court went on to hold in the above stated Tanner case that the appellant was estopped to claim a right which he obviously had under a deed for diversion of water at one point by reason of his acts and requests over a period of time before the action that the water be diverted to him from another point not authorized under the deed.

The doctrine of estoppel as it applies directly to the instant matter is stated in 31 C.J.S. 610 as follows:

"An estoppel may come into existence because of the conduct or action of a person in a court and it is generally recognized that a party who has knowingly and deliberately assumed a particular position in judicial proceedings is estopped to assume a position inconsistent therewith to the prejudice of the adverse party. Accordingly, it has frequently been stated that where a party assumes a certain position in a legal proceeding and succeeds in maintaining that position, he may not thereafter, simply because his interests have changed, assume a position to the contrary, especially if it is to the prejudice of the party who has acquiesced in the position formerly taken by him."

A case directly in point with the above-stated principle and with the facts in the instant matter is the case of *Porter v. Oklahoma Bacone College Trust*, 346 P. 2d 328, 333-334 (Okla.). The case involved an ancillary probate proceedings in Oklahoma wherein one Mr. Porter attempted to assert the validity of a codicil to a will. Mr. Porter had previously stipulated in a domiciliary probate proceedings in Texas that the codicil was void. Mr. Porter contended in the Oklahoma proceedings that the codicil was valid on the theory that the time for objecting to the validity of the codicil had passed by law, but the Supreme Court of Oklahoma held that even though the time for objecting to the validity of the codicil had passed, Mr. Porter, by his stipulation that the codicil was void in the prior proceedings in Texas, was estopped from asserting the validity of the codicil in the ancillary proceedings.

Another case directly in point is the case of *Hardgrove v. Bowman*, 10 Wash. 2d 136, 116 P. 2d 336, 337. The appellant in that case was insisting on appeal that he was entitled to damages for breaches under a contract which he had previously requested the court to hold invalid and unenforceable, which the court did. In rejecting the appellant's claim the court held:

"A litigant will not be heard to say in one breath that a contract is of no force or effect and in the next assert a right to recover upon it. He may not defeat his adversary's cause on the

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