1966

Henry Bawden, et al. v. Othello P. Pearce, et al. v.
Doxey-Layton Co., et al. : Brief of Doxey-Layton
Co., Et Al, Intervenors and Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFFS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO MAINTAIN THIS ACTION, THE LAND USAGE OF THE INTERVENORS’ SHOPPING CENTER AREA HAS BEEN FINALLY DETERMINED BY THE DISTRICT COURT JUDGMENT IN THE AMERICAN HOUSING CASE.

SUPRA, AND SUCH JUDGMENT CANNOT BE COL-
LATERALLY ATTACKED OR RELITIGATED IN
THESE PROCEEDINGS.

Under Point I of plaintiffs' brief, they argue that as holders of real property within the Hunter-Granger Planning District, they are entitled by the provisions of 17-27-23, U.C.A. 1953, to bring this action to enjoin the Chief Building Inspector from issuing any building permits contrary to a zoning ordinance. Such section simply provides that if there is a violation of the zoning ordinances, an owner of the district in which the violation occurs may bring an action to stop such violation. Presumably, after the Court determines that there has been a use contrary to law, it will take steps to prevent such use. The statute has no relevancy under the facts of this case.

The effective date of the Hunter-Granger Planning District zoning ordinance was February 12, 1965. The judgment of Judge Erickson in the *American Housing* case was entered on February 24, 1965, subsequent to and with knowledge of the action of the County Commission in enacting zoning regulations. After entry of judgment in that case, a further order was entered on June 1, 1965, (R-172) making substitution of and addition to county officials to whom the mandate was directed, and an order to show cause and decree thereon (R-169) was issued on July 12, 1965, relative to failure of com-

pliance. Neither changed the judgment of February 24, 1965, and writ, except as to addition and substitution of parties.

The Hunter- Granger Zoning District defines a broad area of land as Residential R-2, and included within it is the relatively small parcel which was described in and affected by the judgment. There was in fact no zoning classification which dealt exclusively with use of land as a shopping center. The judgment simply recognizes that a shopping center could be erected on the involved property, and is in essence a judgment in rem since it directly affects the status of property. As will be hereinafter noted, the judgment is binding upon other land owners in the district.

The plaintiffs then assert in their brief, page 10, that the judgment is now "without merit by reason of the subsequent order of the Supreme Court of Utah" which finds that the Building Inspector, et al, have complied with the writ of mandate and the matter is moot. Exhibit P-2 is cited as the authority for such statement. This Exhibit is the order of the Supreme Court dismissing the appeal in the *American Housing* case, Supreme Court Case No. 10248, upon stipulation of the defendant county officials through their counsel. It is not in any sense of the word a finding of the Supreme Court, although this is immaterial in any event since there is no indication, directly or indirectly, that this judgment, essentially in

rem, is to be declared void. The entire record indicates the contrary.

The brief then asserts, page 11, that by virtue of such non-existent determination by the Supreme Court, the judgment is meaningless. It cites the case of *Christie v. Morris*, 119 Mont. 383, 176 P.2d 660, 663 (1947) in support of its contention. This case has no factual relevancy to the instant proceeding, but does contain general language, based upon citations from C.J.S. and Am. Jur., to the effect that

"... no one, whether or not a party to the proceeding in which they (court records of a judgment) were made, may in a collateral proceeding impeach them by adducing evidence in denial of facts of which they purport to be a memorial."

The rule is persuasive, and simply holds that a collateral attack may not be made on a judgment, which is precisely what the plaintiffs are attempting to do in these proceedings. The simple fact remains that the Supreme Court has made no judicial findings, and that the judgment of Judge Erickson in the *American Housing* case is controlling.

Plaintiffs admit they are bound by the judgment in the *American Housing* case when they recognize the validity of the issuance of the building permit, Exhibit P-4. This relates to the foundations of one building

of the complex, and plaintiffs here seek to prevent any further construction. It must again be noted that this judgment did not direct issuance of permits as such, but rather the orderly processing of applications for construction permits for buildings of a regional shopping center without reference to zoning classification.

Plaintiffs claim no proprietary interest in the lands here involved, and since the action was against and defended by the appropriate county officials, land owners in the district such as plaintiffs are bound by said judgment.

As stated in C.J.S. :

"When the court has jurisdiction of the parties and the subject matter of the litigation in a mandamus proceeding, its judgment therein rendered may not be attacked collaterally, in the absence of fraud or collusion." 55 C.J.S. Mandamus, §340(h).

"A peremptory writ of mandamus operates as a final judgment, and is *res judicata* of the rights of the parties at the time it is issued, and is not subject to collateral attack. All matters of law and fact that could have been pleaded in defense prior to the award of a peremptory writ are foreclosed thereby." 55 C.J.S. Mandamus, §355.

"The principal of estoppel or bar by judgment is in no way dependent upon the form or the object of the litigation in which the adjudication was made; it is only essential that there should have been a judicial determination of rights in controversy with a final decision thereon.

"It is well settled that a final judgment rendered on the merits of an application for a peremptory writ of mandamus comes within the principle of *res judicata*, and is a bar to another application for the same writ by the same party under the same circumstances, or to another action involving the same issues or in which the same relief is sought, provided the decision proceeds on the merits . . ." 50 C.J.S., Judgments §608. (See the *Price*, *Cohn*, and *Servente* cases, *infra*.)

"In the absence of fraud or collusion, a judgment for or against a governmental body, such as a municipal corporation, county, town, school or irrigation district, or other local governmental agency or district, or a board of officers properly representing it, is binding and conclusive on all residents, citizens and taxpayers with respect to matters adjudicated which are of general and public interest, such as questions relating to public property, contracts or other obligations. The rule is frequently applied to judgments rendered in an action between certain residents or taxpayers and a state, municipality, county or district, or board or officer representing it, it being held that all other citizens and taxpayers similarly situated are represented in the litigation and bound by the judgment, in the absence of fraud or collusion. The rule is applicable to persons who have notice of the suit, and even to persons without actual notice of the pendency of the suit." 50 C.J.S. Judgments §796(b).

In *Price v. Sixth District Agricultural Association*, 201 Cal. 502, 258 Pac. 387 (1927), prior mandamus proceedings had upheld the validity of the lease of a coliseum

proposed by the city, and had ordered execution of the lease by the city. Subsequent to that decision, the lease was redrafted, executed, and an action commenced by plaintiff citizens to enjoin the city from constructing the coliseum. The Court held the prior action was *res judicata*:

"A fact or question which was actually and directly in issue in a former suit, and was there judicially passed upon and determined by a domestic court of competent jurisdiction, is conclusively settled by the judgment therein, so far as concerns the parties to that action and persons in privity with them, and cannot be again litigated in any future action between such parties or privies, in the same court, or in another court of concurrent jurisdiction, upon the same or a different cause of action." (p. 390).

The Court considered whether or not the parties were the same, and said:

"The fact that there are defendants and respondents other than the city and county does not prevent the application of the rule that the parties are deemed to be the same." (p. 391).

After citing with approval 50 C.J.S. Judgments 796b, the Court stated, page 392:

"... If, however, fraud and collusion be absent, the public interest may be as well represented by

the mayor or chairman of the board of supervisors as by any set of taxpayers. . . . This doctrine is not impaired because the former suits were judgments in mandamus proceedings so long as the judgments were on the merits."

The Court also cited numerous authorities and, with approval, the following:

" . . . If the judgment in mandamus was not as effectual, upon the principal of *res a judicata*, against the inhabitants of the county as it is against the county commissioners, *there would be no end to litigation in such cases or in any case against county officials as such.*"

In *Berman v. Denver Tramway Corporation*, 197 F. 2d 946 (C.A. 10th, 1952), the federal district court in creditor's bill against a company transporting passengers in Denver, entered a decree restraining the City and County of Denver from enforcing ordinances limiting amounts of fares. Such decree was affirmed and held binding on members of the public although they were not parties to the suit. At page 951, the Court said:

" . . . where a municipality is vested with power to establish or enforce fares of that kind, a valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction in an action by or against the municipality determining the validity and amount of such fares is binding upon the public."

In *Servente v. Murray*, 10 Cal. App. 2d 335, 52 P. 2d 270 (1936), the Pension Board's appearance in a prior mandamus proceeding against the issuance of a pension to a former policeman was held to bind the public.

McNichols v. City and County of Denver, 101 Colo. 316, 74 P. 2d 99 (1937), involved an action by the auditor against the City and County. Judgment for defendant was affirmed. The Court said:

"We are definitely of the opinion that where such a suit, designed to test the validity of a bond issue, is brought by a public official charged with ministerial and executive duties in connection therewith, in which proceedings the political subdivision proposing the issuance of the bonds as a body politic and corporate and its elected and appointed officials who have duties to perform in connection with the issuance of such bonds, are joined as here, that a judgment rendered therein is res judicata as to the validity of the bonds against all persons, including taxpayers, even though they are not parties to the suit. To hold otherwise would, to a great extent, render nugatory to all intents and purposes the Declaratory Judgments Law. The reason for such a rule is well stated in 1 Freeman on Judgments (5th Ed.) p. 1090, where it is said:

"The position of such a governmental body towards its citizens and taxpayers is, upon principle, analogous to that of a trustee towards his cestui que trust, when they are numerous and the management and control

of their interests are by the terms of the trust committed to his care. A judgment against it or its legal representatives in a matter of general interest to all its citizens is binding upon the latter, though they are not parties to the suit'." (p. 102)

The public was held bound in actions against governmental officials in the following cases relative to matters indicated: *State, ex rel. Hamilton v. Cohn*, 1 Wyo. 2d 54, 95 P. 2d 38 (1939), (taxation); *Atchison, T. & S.F. R. Co. v. Board of Commissioners*, 95 Colo. 435, 37 P. 2d 761 (1934), (school taxes).

In *Vessels v. Davidson Chevrolet, Inc.*, 144 Colo. 101, 355 P.2d 121 (1960), a land owner brought action to require a zoning administrator and building inspector of Denver to enforce a zoning ordinance and to enjoin Davidson Chevrolet, Inc. from erecting structures on a particular parcel of land after the Court by final judgment in a prior action had authorized the building permits. The Court held the prior judgment could not be collaterally attacked and sustained granting of defendant's motion for summary judgment dismissing plaintiff's complaint saying:

"Davidson Chevrolet, Inc., and the Slocums moved to dismiss plaintiff's complaint and for a summary judgment. This motion was sustained by the trial court and the action was dismissed. Plaintiffs are here on writ of error.

"An examination of the record in the two *Davidson* cases, *supra*, discloses that these plaintiffs were intervenors therein in the trial court and were defendants in error in this court.

"It is manifest that the present action is a collateral attack on the final judgments entered in the two cases above referred to.

"*Of necessity there must be an end to litigation between parties to a lawsuit, and those in privity with them, especially those who are parties to the original action and to the proceedings upon error in this court. Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railway Co. v. Board of County Commissioners, 95 Colo. 435, 37 P.2d 761.*"

The *Vessels* case is particularly applicable. While appellants here did not intervene in the prior case, as in *Vessels*, plaintiffs "watched with anxiety" the prior case and likewise should be so bound.

In *Intermill v. Nash*, 94 Utah 271, 75 P. 2d 157 (1938), the opinion discusses at length the matter of collateral attack on judgments. At pages 160, 162, this Court said:

". . . The courts, functioning to determine and settle property rights, upon which persons may rely and the security of society be built, should enjoy, in their formal pronouncements, every possible degree of conclusiveness. To permit their determinations to be lightly regarded or easily evaded would render them nugatory, and be a source of litigation and friction rather than to put an end

thereto. That a litigant may obtain relief against an erroneous or improper judgment, the law has provided for him methods by which he may seek relief therefrom, by appeals to the courts rendering it, or by review in an appellate tribunal; or for matters rendering it invalid, which do not appear in the record, or other proper circumstances, he may ask a court of equity to set aside or annul the judgment. If he does not test the soundness of the judgment by the methods law has provided for that purpose, he cannot question or assail the same for errors in the judgment, or the proceeding in which it was entered when in another proceeding it is pleaded or produced in evidence against him. A judgment, once entered by a court of competent jurisdiction, having the res and the parties duly brought before it as provided by law, imports verity, proves itself, and is invulnerable to attacks by any indirect assaults. It can only be questioned in the manner and the proceedings established by law. And since a judgment is established and proved by the record thereof, unless an inspection of that record establishes its invalidity, shows it to be void, the judgment is conclusive and may not be questioned collaterally by any matter dehors the record thereof."

"... In an attack on a judgment the only inquiry, in the absence of proper pleadings raising the issue of its validity, the only question that can be inquired into is: Did the court rendering the judgment have jurisdiction to hear and determine the issue, and to render the particular judgment? If that question is answered in the affirmative, the judgment is conclusive in collateral proceedings unless the record thereof affirmately shows

wherein that jurisdiction failed. 9 Am. & Eng. Encey. of Law, 256; Black on Judgments, Vol 1, par. 256."

The foregoing authorities set forth the basic principle that there must be an end to litigation, a doctrine of estoppel by judgment, which is a specie of or closely related to the principle of *res judicata*. This is precisely such a case. Property owners in the same zoning district seek to relitigate a judgment based upon a trial on the merits, and defended by a wide range of county officials concerned with land usage and zoning. If the contention of plaintiffs is correct, the litigation can continue indefinitely with repeated retrials of the same basic issues. Whatever the outcome in these proceedings, other property owners in the zoning district could then with equal rights file additional independent actions to destroy the judgment. The practical result of such an interpretation would be to compel anyone bringing a suit such as the *American Housing* case, to join all property owners or those claiming an interest in property in a large zoning district. This, as a practical matter, is utterly impossible, and is obviously not required.

The county officials actively contested the *American Housing* case, it has been litigated in three separate trials or hearings, appealed to this Court, and remitted to the District Court. It is obvious that this proceeding is nothing more than a collateral attack on that judgment and such an attack cannot be made.

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